#### No. S272627

#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

RODNEY TAUREAN LEWIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G060049 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. B1366626 The Honorable Vincent J. Chiarello, Judge

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the instructions as a whole correctly conveyed the quantum of force required for kidnapping for rape when an adult victim is incapable of consenting to the movement.
- 2. Whether any error in the force element of the kidnapping instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 3. Whether substantial evidence supported the force element of kidnapping so that retrial is not barred under the double jeopardy clause.

#### INTRODUCTION

More than half a century ago, this Court recognized that the "rule[s] governing the forcible carrying of conscious persons capable of giving consent" cannot be "literally applied" to define the crime of kidnapping where the victim, "because of infancy or mental condition, is incapable of giving his [or her] consent." (People v. Oliver (1961) 55 Cal.2d 761, 766.) Consistent with those principles, this Court observed decades later that "infants and young children are in a different position vis-a-vis the force requirement for kidnapping than those who can apprehend the force being used against them and resist it," and expressly answered the question of what "quantum of force [is] necessary to establish the force element of kidnapping in the case of an infant or small child." (In re Michele D. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 600, 610.) In that context, this Court announced that "the amount of force required to kidnap an unresisting infant or child is simply the amount of physical force required to take and carry the child away a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or with illegal intent." (Ibid.)

The Court should now hold that the same standard governs kidnapping offenses involving victims who are mentally incapacitated—meaning persons incapable of giving legal consent to movement due to intoxication or a mental condition—and affirm that the amount of force required to kidnap a mentally incapacitated person is the amount of physical force required to take and carry the victim away a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or with illegal intent. That standard (like the identical standard for young children identified in *Michele D.*) is consistent with the text of Penal Code section 207, evidence of legislative intent, and this Court's prior kidnapping precedents, including the reasoning in *Oliver* and *Michele D.* 

The kidnapping instructions in this case adequately informed the jury of this relaxed standard of force. The jury was instructed that conviction required proof that appellant "used physical force or deception to take and carry away an unresisting person with a mental impairment." (Opn. 41.) Although the People agree that the term "or deception" should not have been included in that instruction, the jury was otherwise instructed that conviction required proof that the victim was mentally incapacitated, that appellant "moved" Doe a substantial distance (and thus that he used the amount of physical force required to take and carry the victim away a substantial distance), and that he did so with the intent to commit rape. The Court of Appeal's contrary judgment should be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The crime and trial

Appellant met the victim Suzanne Doe at a bar in Palo Alto. At the time, Doe felt "a little drunk" because she had shared a bottle of wine with her boyfriend over dinner and a "very strong" drink with him at the bar. (5RT 1220, 1222, 1225-1227, 1274.) Doe lost her phone somewhere at the bar, and appellant falsely told her that "a friend of his had found a phone." (5RT 1232.) At one point, appellant held his phone to his ear as if speaking to that friend, but he did not actually place or receive a call. (5RT) 1234.) Believing appellant, Doe had some drinks with him while waiting for the supposed friend to return with her phone. (5RT) 1235.) The bartender thought that Doe was intoxicated and refused to serve Doe additional alcohol. (5RT 1318.) However, appellant convinced the bartender to serve him additional alcohol (by falsely claiming that he knew the owner and threatening to have the bartender fired if she did not serve him) and provided the alcohol to Doe, who consumed it. (5RT 1319.) Doe's memory of the evening ended at that point. (5RT 1235.) Security video from the bar showed Doe walking out of the bar with appellant shortly thereafter, around 12:45 a.m. (9RT 2414.)

The following morning, Doe was discovered in a parking lot, unconscious and wrapped in a sheet. (4RT 953; 5RT 1300.)

Underneath the sheet, Doe's dress had been pushed up to her belly button and her underwear was partly pulled down. (4RT 956, 993-994.) She had bruises on her arms, legs, and feet and abrasions on her back. (8RT 2214-2215.) She had been raped and involuntarily drugged with alprazolam (7RT 1898, 1903; 8RT

2223-2224), a medication she did not normally take (5RT 1265, 1291). When combined with alcohol, alprazolam can cause loss of consciousness or memory loss. (7RT 1861, 1903.) Doe was taken to a hospital, where her memory began again. (5RT 1238.) At 11:00 a.m., she had a blood-alcohol concentration (BAC) of 0.18. (9RT 2435.) An expert testified that around 1:45 a.m., Doe's BAC had been 0.35, which would be "Phase IV" intoxication, a level consistent with confusion and "passing out." (9RT 2431, 2443-2444.)

When contacted by the police, appellant claimed that he had offered Doe a ride home, and she had accepted. (6RT 1612.)

Appellant said Doe had been "passing out" in the car. (6RT 1613.) He said Doe had "started freaking out" and that he had let her out in a driveway. (6RT 1613.) He denied having had sex with Doe, but recanted when the police said they had a warrant for his DNA, and admitted to having sex with her. (6RT 1617.)

Appellant's phone records disproved his story about driving Doe home. The records showed that he had driven to his own house from the bar—away from Doe's residence—and that he had called his girlfriend within minutes of leaving the bar. (9RT 2547-2548, 2552.) The sheet Doe had been found in belonged to appellant. (6RT 1618.)

The Santa Clara County District Attorney charged appellant with rape of a person prevented from resisting by an intoxicating substance (Pen. Code, § 261, subd. (a)(3)) and kidnapping to commit rape (Pen. Code, § 209, subd. (b)(1)). (2CT 356-357.)<sup>1</sup>

The trial court instructed the jury that to convict appellant of kidnapping to commit rape, the prosecution had to prove:

- 1. The defendant intended to commit rape of a woman while intoxicated;
- 2. Acting with that intent, the defendant used *physical force or deception* to take and carry away an unresisting person with a mental impairment;
- 3. Acting with that intent, the defendant moved the person with a mental impairment a substantial distance;
- 4. The person with a mental impairment was moved or made to move a distance beyond that merely incidental to the commission of a rape of a woman while intoxicated;
- 5. When that movement began, the defendant already intended to commit rape of a woman while intoxicated;
- 6. Suzanne Doe suffered from a mental impairment that made her incapable of giving legal consent to the movement;

#### **AND**

7. The defendant knew or reasonably should have known that Suzanne Doe was a person with a mental impairment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code.

 $[\P] \dots [\P]$ 

A person with a mental impairment may include unconscious or intoxicated adults incapable of giving legal consent. A person is incapable of giving legal consent if he or she is unable to understand the act, its nature, and possible consequences.

(3CT 791, italics added.) The jury convicted appellant of both charged crimes. (3CT 759-760.)

Appellant moved for a new trial on the ground that the instruction on kidnapping to commit rape had permitted the jury to find him guilty of kidnapping even if it had found that he used "no force at all." (17RT 4806.) The prosecution responded that the instruction had also specified that conviction required proof that appellant "took and carried [Doe] away... a substantial distance" and "if a jury is instructed on (and properly finds) that the defendant moved the victim a substantial distance [it] must have properly found the required force for purposes of Penal Code section 209(b)." (3CT 878.) The trial court denied the motion. (17RT 4811.)

#### B. The Court of Appeal's decision

The Court of Appeal unanimously upheld the rape conviction but divided over the conviction for kidnapping. (Opn. 20-22; conc. & dis. opn. of Bedsworth, J., 15-18 (Conc. & Dis. Opn.)) The majority concluded that the instruction on kidnapping to commit rape was erroneous as it permitted the jury to convict appellant "based on deception alone" (Opn. 10); held that the error was prejudicial (Opn. 16-18); and determined that the evidence of force was so deficient that retrial was barred (Opn. 18-20).

Justice Bedsworth rejected each of these holdings. (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 6-15.)

The Court of Appeal's analysis of the kidnapping conviction began with the text of section 209, subdivision (b)(1) (Opn. 10-11), which provides, "Any person who kidnaps or carries away any individual to commit . . . rape . . . shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for life with the possibility of parole." The court noted, "Kidnap in section 209 means the same as kidnapping in section 207," which defines the offense as occurring when a person "forcibly, or by any other means of instilling fear, steals or takes, or holds, detains, or arrests any person in this state, and carries the person into another country, state, or county, or into another part of the same county." (Opn. 11.) The court observed that because of this statutory definition, movement of the victim "by fraud alone does not constitute general kidnapping in California." (Opn. 11.)

Although the Court of Appeal identified "two lines of cases where courts have recognized a reduced quantum of force was permissible in a kidnapping case" (Opn. 11), it concluded neither applied. The first line—which involves minors—was "inapposite" because "Doe was 22 years old at the time of the offense—she was not a minor." (Opn. 12.) The court thought the second line of cases—which "involves incapacitated persons" (Opn. 12)— "arguably suggests the trial court's instruction was proper." (Opn. 13). In the Court of Appeal's view, that line of cases could be read to authorize a relaxed showing of force in certain cases involving incapacitated victims. But according to the Court of

Appeal, the kidnapping instruction here "did not relax the force requirement—the instruction completely eliminated it" (Opn. 14) because it "permitted the jury to conclude [appellant] carried away Doe by 'physical force *or* deception" (Opn. 15).

The court also rejected the People's argument that the instructions were nevertheless correct as a whole. For example, the People argued that because the instruction required proof that appellant had "moved the person with a mental impairment a substantial distance," the instructions as whole conveyed the relaxed force standard recognized in cases in which the victim is a young child or mentally incapacitated. (Opn. 15.) The Court of Appeal disagreed, reasoning that the omission of an "introductory clause" in the pattern instruction—"Using that force or fear"— allowed the jury to convict on the basis of movement caused by deception rather than force. (Opn. 15.)

The Court of Appeal further held that the instructional error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Opn. 16-17.) In the court's view, the other portions of the verdict did not demonstrate that the jury necessarily found appellant had used force, and the security video did not "unequivocally" establish that appellant "used force to make Doe leave the bar." (Opn. 17.) The court also rejected the possibility that the kidnapping might have begun at a later point because "the record is devoid of any evidence [appellant] forced Doe into his car or refused to let her out once she was in his car." (Opn. 18.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal barred retrial. Although the court acknowledged the instructional error was "a trial error not

implicating the Double Jeopardy Clause, which would permit the prosecutor to retry [appellant]," the court held there was also "an evidentiary void concerning the pivotal issue of force" and reasoned that appellant "could not" have been convicted had the jury been properly instructed. (Opn. 19.) Based on this perceived insufficiency of the evidence, the appellate court concluded that "retrial of the aggravated kidnapping charge is precluded." (Opn. 20.)

Justice Bedsworth dissented from the decision to reverse the kidnapping conviction and to bar retrial. In his view, the kidnapping instruction was proper: "While force or fear is generally required to satisfy the asportation requirement of kidnapping [citation], courts have tempered that requirement when, due to age or mental incapacity, the victim is unable to lawfully consent to being moved." (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 7.) He concluded that under this Court's decisions, "kidnapping an adult . . . incapable of giving consent can be based on either force or deception." (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 12.) He also believed that the asserted error was harmless because a properly instructed jury would have been required to find that "appellant, acting with unlawful intent, used enough force to take and carry [Doe] away a substantial distance while she was mentally incapacitated." (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 13-14.) Even though it was "certainly possible" that appellant had not used force to get Doe to leave the bar, the evidence showed that "appellant clearly and indisputably used enough force to move her a substantial distance" by driving Doe in his car. (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 14.) For the same reason,

Justice Bedsworth would have authorized retrial. (Conc. & Dis. Opn. 14-15.)

#### C. The People's petition for rehearing

The People petitioned for rehearing on the sufficiency of the evidence that appellant used force to kidnap Doe. Appellant had not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence of force in his opening brief (cf. AOB 24-31 [challenging sufficiency of evidence of intent and knowledge]) and had requested a new trial based upon the instructional error (AOB 20). After briefing had concluded, the Court of Appeal requested simultaneous letter briefs on the "proper remedy" for prejudicial instructional error. Appellant argued that retrial was prohibited because there was insufficient evidence of force (Appellant's LB 2), and the People argued that the proper remedy for instructional error was retrial (Respondent's LB 1-2).

In the petition for rehearing, the People argued that rehearing was required under Government Code section 68081 because the Court of Appeal had not provided an opportunity to brief the sufficiency of the evidence of force. The Court of Appeal denied the petition, with Justice Bedsworth dissenting.

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant was charged with kidnapping for rape, which requires asportation by force or fear. Because of the evidence of Doe's incapacity, the superior court instructed on kidnapping for rape by combining and modifying CALCRIM No. 1201 (kidnapping a child or person incapable of consent) and CALCRIM No. 1203 (kidnapping for robbery, rape, or other sex

offenses). The resulting instruction included an element that appellant "used physical force or deception to take and carry away" Doe. The Court of Appeal held that the instruction prejudicially eliminated the force requirement and that the evidence of force was so insubstantial that retrial was barred. To properly assess the correctness of the instructions, prejudice, and the sufficiency of the evidence, it is first necessary to articulate the quantum of force required to kidnap an incapacitated adult. With the proper standard in mind—that the required force is that necessary to asport—the flaws in each facet of the decision below become apparent.

# I. THE ONLY FORCE REQUIRED TO KIDNAP A MENTALLY INCAPACITATED ADULT IS THE FORCE REQUIRED TO TAKE AND CARRY THAT PERSON A SUBSTANTIAL DISTANCE FOR AN ILLEGAL PURPOSE OR WITH AN ILLEGAL INTENT

"[O]rdinarily the force element [for kidnapping] requires something more than the quantum of physical force necessary to effect movement of the victim from one location to another."

(Michele D., supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 606.) This Court has held that a different standard applies in the case of an unresisting infant or child who is incapable of giving legal consent to movement. In such cases, the "force" requirement is met by "the amount of physical force required to take and carry the child away a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or with illegal intent." (Id. at p. 610.) Because mentally incapacitated adults are likewise incapable of giving legal consent to movement by another who acts with an illegal intent, the Court should hold that the quantum of force required to kidnap a mentally incapacitated adult is the quantum of force "necessary to effect

movement of the victim" a substantial distance for an illegal purpose or an illegal intent. (*Ibid*.)

#### A. An overview of kidnapping law

"The crime of kidnaping, sometimes called simple kidnaping, is the stealing, abduction, or detention of another person by force or fear." (1 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (4th ed. 2012) Crimes Against the Person, § 281 (Witkin & Epstein).)

Simple kidnapping is prohibited by section 207, subdivision (a), which provides, "Every person who forcibly, or by any other means of instilling fear, steals or takes, or holds, detains, or arrests any person in this state, and carries the person into another country, state, or county, or into another part of the same county, is guilty of kidnapping." This Court has construed section 207 to ordinarily require more than the quantum of physical force necessary to effect movement of the victim from one location to another. (*Michele D., supra,* 29 Cal.4th at p. 606.) And it has repeatedly held that deception or fraud is not an alternative means to cause the movement of the victim to sustain a simple kidnapping offense.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There are other types of simple kidnapping that either do not require that the victim's movement be accomplished by force or fear (e.g., § 207, subd. (b) ["Every person, who for the purpose of committing any act defined in Section 288, hires, persuades, entices, decoys, or seduces by false promises, misrepresentations, or the like, any child under the age of 14 years to go out of this country, state, or county, or into another part of the same county, is guilty of kidnapping"]) or that include force as an alternative method of commission (e.g., § 207, subd. (d) ["Every person who, being out of this state, abducts or takes by force or fraud any (continued...)

Aggravated kidnapping, as set forth in sections 209 and 209.5, is "kidnaping for robbery, for extortion or ransom, for specified sex offenses, or to facilitate a carjacking." (1 Witkin & Epstein, *supra*, Crimes Against the Person, § 292, citations omitted.) An aggravated kidnapping occurs if the defendant "kidnaps or carries away an individual to commit" an enumerated offense, including robbery and rape. (§ 209, subd. (b)(1).)<sup>3</sup> And this Court has held that section 209, subdivision (b) aggravated kidnapping incorporates the definition of simple kidnapping, including its force and asportation requirements. (*People v. Daniels* (1969) 71 Cal.2d 1119, 1131.)<sup>4</sup>

"Kidnapping is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for three, five, or eight years" (§ 208, subd. (a)), unless the victim is a child under 14, in which case "the kidnapping is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for 5, 8, or 11

(...continued)

person contrary to the law of the place where that act is committed, and brings, sends, or conveys that person within the limits of this state, and is afterwards found within the limits thereof, is guilty of kidnapping"].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Section 209 was amended since appellant's conviction. (Stats. 2021, ch. 626, § 16.) Because the amendments are not relevant to the issues presented, the People quote the current version.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The role of the term "carries away" in the phrase "kidnaps or carries away" is not clear. (See *People v. Wein* (1958) 50 Cal.2d 383, 420-422 (dis. opn. of Carter, J.) [finding the term ambiguous].) It may be the exact equivalent of "kidnaps" or it may cover conduct other than that required for kidnapping. The People do not rely on the phrase "carries away" here.

years" (§ 208, subd. (b).) Aggravated kidnapping is punishable by either life or life without the possibility of parole. (§§ 209, subds. (a) & (b), 209.5, subd. (a).)

## B. This Court has relaxed the force required to kidnap an unresisting child victim incapable of giving legal consent

This Court has long recognized that the amount of force ordinarily required for simple kidnapping is not the amount of force required to kidnap an unresisting infant or child.

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