S272627

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

RODNEY TAUREAN LEWIS, Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Three, No. G060049 Santa Clara County Superior Court No. B136626, Hon. Vincent J. Chiarello

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edward W. Swanson (SBN 159859) ed@smllp.law
August Gugelmann (SBN 240544)
august@smllp.law
SWANSON & McNAMARA LLP
300 Montgomery Street, Suite 1100
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone: (415) 477-3800
Facsimile: (415) 477-9010

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant Rodney Lewis

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

in accord that a defendant can move a victim without applying force.

It is precisely because movement can be accomplished by various means, including deception, that the model instructions require the jury to conclude the defendant used force. (CALCRIM No. 1203 [requiring jury to find the defendant moved the victim a substantial distance using "force or fear"] [alterations omitted].) But the trial court here excised the model's force requirement. (12RT 3319.) Not only that, it also explicitly told the jury movement can be accomplished by "tricking the mentally impaired person into accompanying [the defendant] a substantial distance for an illegal purpose." (*Ibid.*) Thus nothing in the instructions required jurors to find force.

II. The instructional error requires reversal.

"Alternative-theory" error occurs where "a court instructs on two theories of guilt, one correct and the other incorrect" and requires reversal "unless the reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict." (Aledamat, 8 Cal.5th at p. 10 [quoting People v. Chun (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172, 1201]; id. at p. 13.) The State asks the Court to ignore any indication that the jury relied on the invalid legal

theory, to instead posit a hypothetical trial in which the jury was not given flawed instructions, and to affirm if it believes the imaginary jury would have convicted. (OBM 36.) This request is unsupported by the law. The Court may find alternative-theory error harmless only if the State proves, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the actual jury in this case convicted because it found Appellant used force. Because the State cannot meet that burden, the verdict cannot stand.

A. Harmless error analysis requires the Court to examine what this jury did, not what a hypothetical jury might do.

The United States Supreme Court has squarely rejected the State's position that harmless error analysis "does not ask what the jury actually did but what a jury would have done absent the error." (OBM 41.) As it has explained, "[t]he inquiry is not whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error." (Sullivan, supra, 508 U.S. at p. 279.) "That must be so, because to hypothesize a guilty verdict that was never in fact rendered – no matter how inescapable the findings to support that verdict might be – would violate the jury-trial guarantee."

(*Ibid.*) Decisions of this Court are in accord that "the focus is what the jury actually decided and whether the error might have tainted its decision." (*People v. Pearson* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 393, 463 [quoting (*People v. Neal* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 63, 86].)

The State's argument hinges on a line in Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 18 (Neder) that described the harmless error analysis as asking if it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." (OBM 36.) Neder did not overrule Sullivan, supra, nor did it purport to apply a different standard. (Neder, 527 U.S. at pp. 10-11 [finding its holding consistent with Sullivan].) Indeed, just last year the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed that "constitutional error is harmless only if there is no reasonable doubt about whether it affected the jury's actual verdict in the actual trial." (Greer, supra, 141 S.Ct. at 2102 [citing Sullivan, supra, 508 U.S. at p. 279].)

⁷

⁷ Neder did note that its holding was not consistent with "the entire reasoning" of *Sullivan*. (Neder, 527 U.S. at pp. 10-11.) This was because Neder disagreed with language in Sullivan that suggested omission of an element was structural error not subject to harmless error analysis. (Id. at pp. 11-12.)

Neder is also distinguishable, on two grounds. First, the instructional error there concerned omission of an element rather than presentation of an invalid legal theory. (Neder, 527 U.S. at p. 8.) While the record in alternative-theory cases is likely to reveal what might have "affected the jury's actual verdict in the actual trial" (Greer, supra, 141 S.Ct. at p. 2102), the same is not true of omitted-element error. In alternative-theory cases, the record will show if the prosecutor argued the invalid theory or the jury asked about it; in omitted-element cases, counsel is unlikely to argue, and the jury is unlikely to ask, about an element that the instructions do not mention.

Second, in *Neder* the omitted element was effectively conceded, making the harmless error analysis an easy one.

Where "the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error," it is "beyond cavil" that "the error 'did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (*Neder*, 527 U.S. at p. 17 [citation omitted].) This Court has found the harmless error analysis similarly straightforward in comparable situations. (*See People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 507 [finding "no possibility that the error affected the result" where

the court failed to instruct on "an uncontested, peripheral element of the offense, which effectively was conceded by defendant, [and] was established by overwhelming, undisputed evidence in the record"].) *Neder* cautioned, however, that "future cases are not likely to be so clear cut" and that appellate courts may not "become in effect a second jury to determine whether the defendant is guilty." (Neder, 527 U.S. at pp. 14, 19 [quotation] omitted]; accord Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at p. 513 (conc. opn. of Werdegar, J.) ["[A]n appellate court cannot simply reweigh the evidence to conclude a *hypothetical reasonable jury* would have found the existence of the missing element. Instead, the pertinent question is whether an examination of the record in this case indicates *this jury* would have found the missing element."] [emphasis original].)

In accordance with the standard articulated in *Sullivan*, supra, this Court's alternative-theory decisions have asked whether the jury might have relied on the flawed theory, not whether a hypothetical jury could convict absent the error. People v. Chiu, for example, was a murder case in which the jury was told it could convict based on a (flawed) natural and probable consequences theory or on a (proper) aider and abettor theory.

(People v. Chiu (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, 160.) Because the jury's questions showed it may have been considering the invalid theory, the Court could not conclude that "the verdict was based on a valid ground." (Id. at pp. 167-68.)

The same alternative-theory error arose in *In re Martinez* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1216. The Court of Appeal affirmed despite the error because there was "sufficient evidence" to convict under the legitimate theory. (Id. at pp. 1225-26.) But, this Court explained, the question is not whether "the jury could reasonably have found Martinez guilty" under the valid theory but whether the State can "show beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury actually relied on that theory." (Id. at p. 1226.) While the record in Martinez revealed evidence to support a conviction on the proper theory, it also showed that "the prosecutor argued the [improper] theory to the jury at length" and that "an inquiry by the jury during its deliberations suggested that it was considering" the improper theory. (Id. at pp. 1226-27.) Thus, despite evidence to support the valid theory, the Court could not conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury had in fact relied on it.

The Court's analysis in *Aledamat* was similar: it examined the record, including counsel's arguments, to determine which

theory the jury might have applied. (*Aledamat*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 14.) The *Aledamat* defendant was accused of using a box cutter to commit assault with a deadly weapon. (Id. at p. 6.) The court incorrectly told the jury it could find the box cutter "inherently deadly" as well as correctly telling it the device could be deadly because of "the way defendant used it." (Ibid.) But the defense did not argue a box cutter was not deadly, the prosecutor did not rely on the flawed theory in arguing that it was, and other instructions suggested to the jury that it needed to apply the proper theory. (Id. at p. 14.) The error was harmless not because a hypothetical jury would have convicted in an error-free trial but because it was clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the actual jury did not apply the flawed theory. As one Court of Appeal wrote in discussing *Aledamat*:

In assessing prejudice, *Aledamat* considered the likelihood that the jurors would have applied the erroneous instruction, not simply the strength of the evidence to support a guilty verdict using the correct instruction. [Citation.] This focus on the impact of the erroneous instruction rather than the strength of the evidence of guilt is central to *Aledamat*'s reasoning on prejudice.

(People v. Thompkins (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 365, 399.)8

The Court's analyses in these cases would have been superfluous under the State's view of the law. If it were true that harmless error analysis "does not ask what the jury actually did but what a jury would have done absent the error" (OBM 41), there would be no reason for the Court to consider whether other aspects of the instruction pointed the jury to the proper theory, what the prosecutors argued, or what questions the jury asked. After all, in a hypothetical error-free trial, there is no defect for which a cure might be found elsewhere in the instructions, the prosecutor has no invalid legal theory to argue, and jurors have none to ask about.

The explicit instructions from this Court and the United
States Supreme Court, as well as the reasoning of this Court's
decisions, thus make clear that harmless error analysis asks
"what the jury actually decided and whether the error might have

⁻

⁸ Like *Thompkins*, *supra*, other courts have followed *Aledamat* in examining not the strength of the evidence as presented to a hypothetical jury but what actually happened at trial, including the instructions, the prosecution's arguments, and the evidence. (*See*, *e.g.*, *People v. Cardenas* (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th 102, 118-19; *In re Rayford* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 754, 783-84; *People v. Garcia* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 123, 156-57.)

tainted its decision." (*Pearson*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 463.) The Court should reject the State's suggestion that the imagined actions of a hypothetical jury trump evidence showing what the real jury actually did.⁹

B. Because the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury relied on a proper legal theory, reversal is required.

The alternative-theory error here requires reversal. The State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that despite the court instructing it to convict if it found Appellant used deceit, despite the prosecutor arguing that Appellant was guilty because he used deceit, and despite the lack of evidence of force, the jury nonetheless found Appellant used force.

First, as shown above, nothing in the instructions required the jury to find force. Jurors were told to convict if Appellant used "force or deception" to kidnap Doe, and the "movement"

⁹ Constructing a hypothetical, error-trial where the prosecution was not permitted to argue the theory they advanced at the real trial is an impossible task in any event. One cannot simply excise the erroneous instruction, because if the prosecution had not been permitted to emphasize deceit as its theory, it would have made different arguments, and the defense would have responded with different arguments and possibly different evidence. There is no way to know, based on the current record, what the jury in such a trial would have done.

affirmatively provided that asportation could be accomplished by Appellant "tricking" Doe. (12RT 3318-19.) This case is thus unlike *Aledamat*, where an "additional instruction" on examining the totality of the circumstances made it "unlikely" that the jury followed the flawed instruction. (*Aledamat*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 14.)

Second, the prosecution "relied heavily on the invalid theory[.]" (Aledamat, 8 Cal.5th at p. 12.) In his opening statement, the prosecutor never mentioned force but told the jury that Appellant "plied [Doe] with the perfect ruse ... to get her out of the bar[.]" (4RT 914; see also 4RT 923 [describing a "string of well-placed lies"]; 4RT 924 [Appellant "comes up with the perfect line" in his "series of lies"].) In closing, he argued that kidnapping "can be through deception, like, saying I have your phone" and that Appellant was guilty because he "plie[d] her with this ruse, he ha[d] her at the bar, he [got] all this new alcohol in her, and he [got] her out into to his car." (12RT 3356, 3326; see also 12RT 3358 [arguing that "deception includes tricking a mentally impaired person into accompanying that person a substantial distance"]; 12RT 3359 [arguing that kidnapping occurred "when he walks out of the bar with her" and "she believes she's getting

her phone"]; 12RT 3356 [arguing for guilty verdict on the grounds that Appellant "deceives Suzanne into thinking he has her phone"].) As in *Martinez*, *supra*, the prosecutor's argument alone raises a reasonable doubt as to whether the jury convicted based on force. (*Martinez*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1227.)¹⁰

Third, the jury must have convicted on deceit because there was insufficient evidence to support a force theory. The court did not issue the flawed instructions *sua sponte*, after all – the prosecution sought and argued for them. It did so because the evidence of force was lacking. (*See* Opn. 19 ["[O]n this record we think it safe to conclude the prosecutor recognized the evidentiary deficiency on the force element and requested the trial court instruct the jury that deception could supplant force."].) This case is thus unlike *Neder* or *Flood*, *supra*, where

¹⁰ This Court has also relied on the prosecutor's arguments in closing to review other constitutional errors under *Chapman*. (See People v. Penunuri (2018) 5 Cal.5th 126, 180 [collecting cases and noting that "[t]he extent to which the prosecution relied on improperly admitted evidence proves pivotal in assessing 'what the jury actually decided and whether the error might have tainted its decision"] [quoting Pearson, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 463].) Lower courts have likewise found alternative-theory error not harmless based on the prosecutor's arguments. (See People v. Baratang (2020) 56 Cal.App.5th 252, 264; In re Loza (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 797, 806.)

the erroneous instruction addressed an element that was both uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence. (*Neder*, 527 U.S. at p. 17; *Flood*, 18 Cal.4th at p.507.)

On this record, the Court of Appeal correctly found it impossible to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict was untainted by instructional error. (Opn. 17.) The State says the court applied the "wrong standard" (OBM 41), but in fact it closely followed *Aledamat*. (See Opn. 17.) It first asked whether "[o]ther portions of the verdict ... demonstrate the jury necessarily found Lewis guilty based on the legally proper theory," noting that *Aledamat* sanctioned this approach. (*Ibid.*) Nothing in the verdict proves the jury necessarily found force, so the court looked to the rest of the record. (*Ibid.*) Here again, it was following this Court's directive. (See Aledamat, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13 ["In both *Chiu* and *Martinez*, we examined the record and found that it affirmatively showed the jury might have based its verdict on the invalid theory."].) The court correctly found the evidence did not "unequivocally support the conclusion Lewis used force to make Doe leave the bar" or that he "forced Doe into his car or refused to let her out once she was in his car." (Opn. 17.) Because neither the verdict nor the evidence "establish Lewis used force," the court was "not convinced beyond a reasonable doubt the jury did not base its verdict on the legally incorrect theory, deception." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal performed the analysis that *Aledamat* prescribed and thus correctly found, "after examining the entire cause, including the evidence, and considering all relevant circumstances" that the error was not harmless. (*Aledamat*, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13.)

III. Reversal of the verdict is required even if the Court accepts the State's view on harmless error.

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